2017 APR 18 AM 3:09

FILED MAY 22 2017 WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

1525-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON (Formerly Court of Appeals No. 75951-5-I)

BRANDON APELA AFOA, an individual,

Respondent,

vs.

PORT OF SEATTLE, a Local Government Entity in the State of Washington,

Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Judith H. Ramseyer, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Address:

4655 Executive Drive, Suite 700 San Diego, CA 92121 (619) 236-1414

819 Virginia Street, Suite C2 Seattle, WA 98101-4433 (206) 623-0229

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is the Port of Seattle ("the Port"), defendant at trial and owner of Seattle Tacoma International Airport ("Sea-Tac").

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the published March 20, 2017, decision of Division I of the Court of Appeals, No. 75951-I. See Appendix.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Plaintiff was injured because of his employer's improper maintenance of a tug he drove on the airport tarmac. Does federal law preempt holding an airport owner liable, whether directly or vicariously, to an independent contractor's employee for injury caused by the contractor's negligent vehicle maintenance and the negligence of the air carriers that employed the independent contractor in allowing the negligent maintenance?
- B. The first question on the special verdict form asked: "Did the defendant retain a right to control the manner in which the plaintiff's employer ... performed its work or maintained its equipment...?" The use of "or" conflicted with the uncontested instructions given to the jury and allowed the jury to find the Port liable even if the Port did

- - -

not control the employer's tug maintenance. Did the verdict form create a confusing inconsistency in the jury instructions and misstate Washington law and should the interrogatory have been submitted when it was not supported by substantial evidence?

C. When an employee of an independent contractor is injured at a workplace where multiple parties dealing with the contractor owe duties of workplace safety to the employee, does allocation of fault under RCW 4.22.070 apply?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Brandon Afoa was employed by Evergreen Aviation Ground Logistics Enterprises, Inc. (EAGLE), an airline contractor providing ground handling services such as aircraft towing, deicing, and baggage handling. (RP 982:11-22, 1178:9-1186:25, 2627:19-2629:17; Exs. 322, 324, 325, 650, 651, 653, 694.) As an airline contractor, EAGLE held a license from the Port permitting it to perform services for the airlines at Sea-Tac. The Port did not employ EAGLE for any reason.

Afoa was seriously injured when the brakes and steering failed on a tug he was driving, causing him to crash. The tug was at all times owned, operated and maintained by EAGLE. The brake and steering malfunction was solely attributable to EAGLE's failure to maintain a

- - - ----

proper level of hydraulic fluid in the vehicle. (RP 130-31, 135, 137, 198:8-10, 207:1-22, 284-87, 310:2-25-11:1-4, 376-77, 2001, Ex. 392.)

A. **PROCEDURAL HISTORY.**

, 2:

The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the Port. (CP 488-89) In *Afoa v. Port of Seattle*, 176 Wn.2d 460, 296 P.3d 800 (2013) ("*Afoa-P*"), this Court reversed, finding there was a triable issue of fact whether the Port had failed to maintain a safe workplace at the airport and whether the Port retained sufficient control over the "manner and instrumentalities of work being done on the jobsite" to impose liability under the Washington Industrial Safety and Health Act of 1973 (WISHA) and common law. *Id.* at 464, 472, 475, 478.

At trial, in accordance with this Court's ruling in *Afoa-I*, the jury was correctly instructed that to conclude that the Port exercised the requisite control, it must find the Port retained the "right to control the manner *and* instrumentalities" of the work. (CP 4807, 4810) (emphasis added). Afoa did not object to these instructions. (RP 3224-26:14, 3228-29) Special verdict form Question No. 1, however, permitted the jury to impose liability if the Port retained a right to control the manner in which EAGLE "performed its work *or* maintained its equipment. . . ." (CP 4839) App. B at 2 (emphasis added).

The jury returned a verdict for plaintiff. While the jury found that there was no condition at Sea-Tac that involved an unreasonable risk of harm, the jury allocated 25 percent of the fault to the Port based on Afoa's retained control claims. The remaining fault was allocated between Afoa (.2 percent) and the four non-party airlines (74.8 percent) that had contracted with EAGLE for ground handling services. Total damages were found to be \$40 million. Pursuant to the jury's fault allocation, a net \$10 million judgment against the Port was entered. The Port's motions for judgment as a matter of law and new trial were denied. (CP 4839-42, 5151-52, 5157-58, 5159-60)

The Port appealed, arguing that the inconsistent verdict form required a new trial, that there was no substantial evidence of a retention of the right to control, and that Afoa's arguments regarding the Port's control of operations at Sea-Tac were preempted by federal law. Afoa cross-appealed the allocation of fault to the non-party airlines. (CP 9210-11)

The Court of Appeals affirmed in part and reversed in part. *Afoa v. Port of Seattle,* ____ Wn. App. ___, ___ P.3d ____ (2017) (2017 WL 1049671) It held that, while the verdict form was "not a model," it was consistent with the law. With little analysis, the panel rejected the Port's federal preemption defense. On Afoa's cross-appeal, the court reversed the

-ne-

allocation order, holding that the Port owed Afoa a nondelegable duty that made it vicariously liable for the fault of the non-party air carriers. The court remanded for entry of judgment against the Port in the amount of \$39,920,000.

B. RELEVANT FACTS.

Sea-Tac Airport is a Class I Certificated Airport pervasively regulated by the Federal Aviation Administration ("FAA") under 14 CFR Part 139 and by the Transportation Security Administration ("TSA") under 49 CFR Part 1542. Constituents of a Class I airport include air carriers/airlines certified by the FAA under 14 CFR Part 121, ground support providers that contract with the airlines (like EAGLE in this matter), and providers of retail goods and services to travelers. (RP 2964:24-2965:2, 2965:24-25; Exs. 686, 693)

More than 40 airlines served travelers from Sea-Tac. (RP 3019:6-16) Under FAA authority, the Port provides these airlines and their contractors with facilities including runways, taxiways, gate areas, and a terminal. (See FAA Order 5280.5D; Exs. 675-678.) More than 5000 pieces of ground support equipment are needed to support the airlines. (RP 2925:12-18, 3003:19) During the year of the accident, there were 350,000 aircraft operations at Sea-Tac, resulting in the transport of approximately

31 million passengers and 320,000 metric tons of cargo into and out of the airport. (RP 2972:2-12)

The way Sea-Tac operates—the way the federal regulations require it to operate—is limited to the issuance of license agreements, leases, and lease-operating agreements, as authorized by the FAA, and to providing facilities such as runways, taxiways, gate areas, and a terminal, where airlines and contractors are authorized by the FAA to conduct their own certificated air transportation businesses. (RP 872:12-878:5, 1396:2-6, 2322:14-18, 2336: 6-14, 2886-87, 2923:1-2925:7, 2965:20-24, 2977:2-2978:3, 2988:14-2989:15, 2997:20-2998:17, 3014:13-3015:11; Exs. 529, 675-678, 686, 692) Every entity doing business at Sea-Tac, including airlines and ground handlers, controls its own operations, including equipment maintenance; and each takes responsibility for its own employees' safety. (RP 2965:12-2968:21, 3015:25-3016:12, 3019:20-3020:9, 3021:22-3022:6; Exs. 182, 311, 495, 675-678)

Moreover, each entity must exercise control over the safety of its operations, including WISHA compliance. (RP 2979:13-24; 3015:25-3016:12; 3019:20-3020:9; 3021:22-3022:6, 1105:8-21, 1151:10-22, 1339:24-25:1340:1-11, 1341:19-1342:1, 1345:3-7, 878:19-879:6, 2941:1-11) The Port lacks the expertise to control the work of the employees of the 200 independent constituents at the airport, and it has never intended

or attempted to exercise such control.¹ Those businesses deploy 16-18,000 workers at the airport. (RP 2390:20-22.) The Port, with only approximately 800 of its own employees at the airport (RP 2957:19-21), does not contract to control the operations of licensees or lessees.²

In *Afoa-I*, this Court distilled the relevant inquiry as an attempt to place "the safety burden on the entity in the best position to ensure a safe working environment." 176 Wn.2d at 479. However, the record is clear that, consistent with the FAA's regulatory system and the realities of modern airport operations, that entity is not, and cannot be, the Port.

V. ARGUMENT: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The serious errors committed by the panel require this Court's attention. The Panel's decision not only conflicts with the decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), it massively expands the liability of a property owner such as the Port. This expansion conflicts with the FAA/TSA regulatory system, which has as its sole purpose ensuring that the airport can operate safely and efficiently. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

¹ RP 849:4-17, 2999:2-24, 2324:6-18, 2326:17-24, 2328:21-2329:8, 2331:7-14, 2331:20-25, 2332:2-12, 2333:6-13, 2335:18-2336:5, 2336:17-2337:14, 2338:14-22, 2338:23-2340:2, 2373:17-22, 3079:19-3080:1.

² RP 2322:8-2323:17, 2323:18-2325:1, 2325:12-2326:11, 2328:21-2329:8, 2329:18-2330:6, 2331:7-14, 2331:20-25, 2332:1-12, 2333:6-13, 2335:18-2336:5, 2336:15-2337-14, 2371:9-12, 2373:13-22, 2762:7-21, 3006:14-3007, 3008:1-7.

A. FEDERAL LAW PREEMPTS STATE LAW IN THIS CASE.

Under the Supremacy Clause, Article VI, clause 2 of the U.S. Constitution, Congress has authority to preempt state laws. While Congress may exercise its preemption power expressly, it may also do so through implied conflict preemption. *See Oneok, Inc. v. Learjet, Inc.*, _____U.S. ____, 135 S. Ct. 1591, 1595, 191 L. Ed. 2d 511 (2015). This occurs when a state law conflicts with federal law such that compliance with both is impossible, *PLIVA, Inc. v. Mensing*, 564 U.S. 604, 131 S. Ct. 2567, 2577, 180 L. Ed. 2d 580 (2011), or when a challenged state law "'stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives' of a federal law," *Williamson v. Mazda Motor of Am., Inc.*, 562 U.S. 323, 330, 131 S. Ct. 1131, 179 L. Ed. 2d 75 (2011) (internal quotation marks omitted).

The FAA is tasked with ensuring the safety and efficiency of the country's air transportation system. See 49 U.S.C. §§ 106, 40101. To further that goal,

[t]he FAA created the National Airspace System (NAS) to protect persons and property on the ground, and to establish a safe and efficient airspace environment for civil, commercial, and military aviation. The NAS is made up of a network of air navigation facilities, [Air Traffic Control] facilities, airports, technology, and appropriate rules and regulations that are needed to operate the system.

See FAA National Airspace System Overview, Appendix A at A-1.

₩ • • To balance the duties and responsibilities of all of the entities needed to support the NAS including pilots, air traffic controllers, airlines, cargo operators, and maintenance and repair operations, the FAA and TSA have promulgated detailed regulations governing each entity. See, e.g. 14 CFR Parts 43, 61, 121, 135. In the case of an airport, those regulations are found in 14 CFR Part 139 and 49 CFR Part 1541.

Federal regulations exclusively govern Class I airports' certification and operation. 14 CFR § 139.1. For Sea-Tac to exist and receive critical federal funding, it must operate pursuant to FAA and TSA regulations. 14 CFR §§ 139.1, .7, .101; 49 CFR § 1542.101. Thus, the Port was required to and did prepare an Airport Certification Manual ("Manual") (Exs. 495-509) and gain FAA approval thereof. 14 CFR Part 139, subpart C; 14 CFR §§ 139.103(a)-(b), 107, 201(a)(1)-(2).

Under 14 CFR § 139.329, the Port was also required to adopt policies and procedures for vehicle access, operations, and enforcement in order to ensure "safe and orderly access to, and operation in, movement areas and safety areas."³ Pursuant to 14 CFR § 139.203, its Manual had to describe how the Port intended to comply with section 139.329, which had

4 ,1 • ,1

³ Because the regulation applies beyond "operation in safety and movement areas" and extends to "access to" those areas, it must cover vehicles that have to cross those areas, thus extending its coverage to areas such as the ramp. For example, EAGLE expected its tugs to be used on taxiways, which are part of the movement area. (14. CFR § 139.5; Ex. 549 at EAGLE-BK 000258)

to be "[i]n a manner authorized by" the FAA. 14 CFR § 139.7. FAA Advisory Circulars ("AC") set forth authorized means of compliance. 14 CFR § 139.7.

The FAA AC applicable to vehicle safety is No. 150/5210-20. (Ex. 182.) That AC provides that an airport may comply with federal regulations by establishing "procedures and policies concerning vehicle access and vehicle operation on the airside of the airport." Plaintiff's accident occurred on the airside.

Hence, the Port had to adopt rules and regulations ("Rules") (Ex. 482), accepted by the FAA, to comply with FAA regulatory requirements and to implement its Manual. 14 CFR § 139.101(a)-(b); Ex. 482 at PORT 50-58; 14 CFR §§ 139.7, .329; AC 150/5210-20 (Ex. 182 § 3.a & App. B at 8 of 22.) The Rules deal with speed limits, dedicated vehicle lanes, rights of way, areas where vehicles may park, places where vehicles may be serviced, reporting accidents, and cleanliness; they require all vehicles to be operated in reasonably safe condition.

The Port's Part 139-compliant Rules permit it to take enforcement actions, but only for alleged violations of the Rules. (Ex. 482 at PORT 74-87.) For example, under 14 CFR §§ 139.327, .329, the Port, like a city police officer enforcing a municipal motor vehicle code, can stop operation of a visibly unsafe vehicle. (*See* Exs. 182, App. B, § 1.7.2.5.b;

\$ • آر • 183, pp. 1, 11.) The Port does not, however, have the authority to control maintenance of vehicles or extend its oversight beyond visibly unsafe vehicles.⁴ Moreover, while the Port may issue citations for Rules violations, and make requests to comply, the Port is not in a position to control its lessees' and licensees' means of compliance. *See, e.g.*, 14 CFR §§ 139.7, .329, AC 150/5210-20, Ex. 495 (Manual at PORT 4038-4039), 49 CFR §§ 1542.101,.201(b)(1)-(6), .211; Exs. 188, 515. As a result, by imposing a state law duty on the Port that is beyond the limits of the Port's authority over airside operations under FAA and TSA regulations, the panel's decision conflicts with federal law.

In addition, this massive expansion in the role that the Port must play in air operations destroys the primary federal goal of ensuring the safe, efficient, and uniform operation of the National Airspace System. It is important to keep in mind what the Port does *not* do. The Port does not operate aircraft. It does not transport passengers. It does not maintain or fuel aircraft. It does not provide ground handling or aircraft maintenance equipment. It does not own or maintain vehicles, like the tug, which are necessary to move aircraft. (See RP 2322:14-18, 2977:18-2978:3) If the critical federal purpose of facilitating air travel is to be met, state law cannot be read to impose these obligations on the Port or similar airport

⁴ The tug at issue was not visibly unsafe. (RP 313: 2-24)

owners.

. ج ک

If the Port has a nondelegable duty to ensure that every one of the thousands of ground vehicles owned and operated by service providers hired by the airlines has the appropriate level of hydraulic fluid, then state law converts the Port into a ground handler and the air carrier that retained it. That duty would compel the Port to be intimately involved in maintaining every one of the 5000 pieces of ground handling equipment used at Sea-Tac. Carried to its logical conclusion, it would require the same level of involvement by the Port in every piece of equipment needed to fuel aircraft, cater aircraft, and move bags. Similarly, even though the Port is not a 14 CFR Part 121 air carrier, and has no right to direct how an airline attempts to comply with its FAA-mandated duties⁵, it would have an obligation to be involved in those operations.

The panel's opinion, by imposing a state-law duty of vehicle maintenance on the Port, puts the Port at the center of an inconsistent patchwork of regulations and duties that are in conflict with the comprehensive federal regulatory system established by Congress and the FAA and the obligations imposed on federally funded airports by federal law. By imposing these obligations on airports in only one state, this

⁵ The jury was not asked to decide whether the Port controlled the air carriers, let alone their work and equipment maintenance. (CP 4780-4834, 4839-42)

ruling creates the exact type of patchwork of conflicting state law requirements that is preempted by federal law. *Montalvo v. Spirit Airlines*, 508 F.3d 464, 473 (9th Cir. 2007).⁶ For Sea-Tac Airport to operate as part of the NAS, the Port cannot be involved in the day-to-day business of how an airline and its subcontractors perform their own regulated services.⁷

If Washington burdens its certificated airports with unique liabilities and the resulting expenses, it destabilizes the foundations on which the National Airspace System is built, redefines an airport's role in the system, and thrusts it into areas for which it lacks the necessary expertise. Only a uniform federal regulatory system can ensure the harmony of duties and obligations necessary to keep the aviation system operating safely and efficiently.

The panel's preemption decision creates an issue of substantial public interest this Court should decide and raises a significant question of law under the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

ري . ت

⁶ In addition, the panel's decision, which premises its retained control determination on existence and enforcement of the Port's Rules, has imposed "liability upon the presence of the very . . . requirements that federal law requires", which is specifically prohibited by *Geier v. Am. Honda Motor Co.*, 529 U.S. 861, 871, 120 S. Ct. 1913, 146 L. Ed. 2d 914 (2000).

⁷ Every entity doing business at Sea-Tac Airport sees to its own safety compliance, including WISHA compliance; the Port relies upon these independent actors to comply. (RP 2979:13-24; 3015:25-3016:12; 3019:20-3020:9; 3021:22-3022:6; RP 1105:8-21; RP 1151:10-22; RP 1339:1340:11; RP 1341:19-1342:1; RP 1345:3-7; RP 878:19-879:6; RP 1670:4-14; RP 2941:1-11)

B. THE PANEL'S RULING UPHOLDING THE USE OF A VERDICT FORM THAT CONFLICTED WITH THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS, IGNORED THE LAW OF THE CASE, PREVENTED THE PORT FROM ARGUING ITS THEORY OF THE CASE, WAS UNSUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE, MISSTATED THE LAW, AND PREJUDICED THE PORT.

A special verdict form may not use language inconsistent with or contradictory to the jury instructions. *Capers v. Bon Marche*, 91 Wn. App. 138, 144, 955 P.2d 822 (1998). This is particularly true where, as here, the instructions became the law of the case because there were no pertinent objections. *Peters v. Dulien Steel Prod.*, 39 Wn.2d 889, 892, 239 P.2d 1055 (1952). When instructions are inconsistent, irreconcilable, or contradictory, prejudice is presumed. *Hall v. Corp. of Catholic Archbishop*, 80 Wn.2d 797, 804, 498 P.2d 844 (1972). The panel's decision on special verdict form Question No. 1 conflicts with these decisions.

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