No. 94525.0 (COA No. 73753-8-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRANDON APELA AFOA,

Respondent,

V.

PORT OF SEATTLE,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SULLIVAN LAW FIRM Michael T. Schein, WSBA # 21646 Columbia Center 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4600 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 903-0504

BISHOP LAW OFFICES, P.S.
Raymond E.S. Bishop, WSBA #22794
Derek K. Moore, WSBA #37921
19743 First Avenue South
Seattle, WA 98148
(206) 592-9000
Attorneys for Respondent
BRANDON APELA AFOA

I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

In 2007 at age 25, Plaintiff / Respondent Brandon Afoa was paralyzed and his life expectancy cut short from injuries suffered as a ground service employee at Sea-Tac Airport. Sea-Tac is owned by the Port of Seattle. It is the law of this case that the Port is an "employer" for purposes of ch. 49.17, RCW ("WISHA"), and that the Port is analogous to a general contractor for purposes of common-law control liability.

The Port is the only entity with sufficient supervisory and coordinating authority to ensure safety in this complex multiemployer work site. If the Port does not keep Sea-Tac Airport safe for workers, it is difficult to imagine who will.³

After a six-week trial the jury agreed, finding that the Port controlled the manner of work of Brandon's direct employer. CP 4839. That finding is the law of the case on appeal.⁴ After the trial court reduced the verdict by 74.8%, and because he has been hospitalized multiple times since remand, Brandon requested direct review "to ensure that [he] ... is not forever denied his recovery." But Department I unanimously denied direct review, which constitutes a finding that this case raises no significant question of constitutional law, no conflict with

¹ Afoa v. Port of Seattle, 176 Wn.2d 460, 473, 296 P.3d 800 (2013) (citing, RCW 49.17.020(4)) (hereafter "Afoa I").

² Id. at 474.

³ Id. at 478-79 (citations omitted).

⁴ Pier 67, Inc. v. King County, 71 Wn.2d 92, 94, 426 P.2d 610 (1967).

⁵ SGDR at 3 (Wash.S.Ct. No. 91995-0, July 30, 2015).

among Washington appellate decisions, and no fundamental issue of broad public import. RAP 4.2(a). Nothing has changed since then except that Brandon is now 35. The Port's arguments have been heard and rejected multiple times by the appellate courts, including this Court.⁷ There is no "massive expansion" of liability here, merely prudent application of 120 years of Washington precedent protecting worker safety,⁸ in fulfillment of the special obligation to protect worker safety under Washington State Constitution, Art. II §35.

⁶ Order (Wash.S.Ct. No. 91995-0, Sept. 28, 2016)

¹ Afoa I, supra; Afoa v. Port of Seattle, 2017 WL 1049671 (WA Div. 1 2017); id., 160 Wn. App. 234, 247 P.3d 482 (Div. 1 2011). Actually, one Port argument was accepted: "federal preemption ... does not qualify as a fundamental and urgent issue of broad public import" Port's Answer to Statement of Grounds for Direct Review (No. 91995-0, Aug. 20, 2015). That's essentially the same argument Brandon puts forth here. ⁸ Kamla v. Space Needle Corp., 147 Wn.2d 114, 122, 52 P.3d 472 (2002); Stute v. PBMC, 114 Wn.2d 454, 463-64, 788 P.2d 545 (1990); Kelley v. Howard S. Wright Const. Co., 90 Wn.2d 323, 332-33, 582 P.2d 500 (1978); Guy v. Northwest Bible College, 64 Wn, 2d 116, 118, 390 P.2d 708 (1964); Myers v. Little Church by the Side of the Road, 37 Wn.2d 897, 904, 227 P.2d 165 (1951) (cited with approval, Afoa I, 176 Wn.2d at 475); Cotton v. Morck Hotel Co., 32 Wn.2d 326, 336, 201 P.2d 711 (1949); Buss v. Wachsmith, 190 Wash. 673, 680, 70 P.2d 417 (1937); Carlson v. P.F. Collier & Son Corp., 190 Wash. 301, 311, 67 P.2d 842 (1937); Pellerin v. Washington Veneer Co., 163 Wash. 555, 563, 2 P.2d 658 (1931); Haverty v. Int'l Stevedoring Co., 134 Wash. 235, 243-44, 235 P. 360 (1925); Britton v. Rumbaugh, 128 Wash. 445, 449, 222 P. 899 (1924); Acres v. Frederick & Nelson, 79 Wash. 402, 409-10, 140 P. 370 (1914); Dumas v. Walville Lumber, 64 Wash. 381, 386, 116 P. 1091 (1911); Westerlund v. Rothschild, 53 Wash, 626, 627-28, 102 P. 765 (1909); Tills v. Great Northern Ry. Co., 50 Wash. 536, 541, 97 P. 737 (1908); Howland v. Standard Milling & Logging Co., 50 Wash. 34, 37, 96 P. 686 (1908); Comrade v. Atlas Lumber & Shingle Co., 44 Wash. 470, 474, 87 P. 517 (1906); Ball v. Megrath, 43 Wash. 107, 110, 86 P. 382 (1906); Dossett v. St. Paul & Tacoma Lumber Co., 40 Wash. 276, 286, 82 P. 273 (1905); O'Brien v. Page Lumber Co., 39 Wash, 537, 545, 82 P. 114 (1905); Sroufe v. Moran Bros. Co., 28 Wash, 381, 396, 68 P. 896 (1902); Costa v. Pacific Coast Co., 26 Wash. 138, 142, 66 P. 398 (1901); McDonough v. Great Northern Ry. Co., 15 Wash. 244, 258, 46 P. 334 (1896); Millican v. N.A. Degerstrom, Inc., 177 Wn. App. 881, 890-93, 896-97, 313 P.3d 1215 (Div. 3 2013), rev. den., 179 Wn.2d 1026 (2014); Neil v. NWCC Investments V, LLC, 155 Wn. App. 119, 121-22, 229 P.3d 837 (Div. 1), rev. den., 169 Wn.2d 1018 (2010); Kinney v.

This Court should again find that no substantial public interest is served by further Supreme Court review, and it should allow judgment to be entered at last. *Justice delayed is justice denied*.

II. ISSUES FOR REVIEW

Brandon Afoa opposes review. If review is granted, Brandon will assert two issues raised in, but not reached by, the Court of Appeals:

- 1. Was it reversible error under CR 12(i) to grant the Port's motion to amend to add "empty chair" defenses against previously known airline nonparties after it was too late for them to be joined?
- 2. Was it reversible error to refuse to hold the Port bound under res judicata and/or collateral estoppel to the prior Federal Court dismissal of the same claims against the airlines?

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO REVIEW

A. There is No Clear Conflict Between State and Federal Law; State Worker Safety Law Complements Federal Law

The Port seeks review to present the untenable proposition that OSHA/WISHA worker safety regulation is impliedly preempted on what a Port Senior Manager called the "inherently dangerous environment" of the airfield, RP 3061/13-19; Ex. 112, despite the fact that WISHA is directly authorized by Congress, 29 U.S.C. §667(b), pursuant to express Congressional intent "to assure ... safe and healthful working conditions ... by encouraging the States to assume the fullest responsibility for the

Space Needle Corp., 121 Wn. App. 242, 249, 85 P.3d 918 (Div. 1 2004); Marsland v. Bullitt Co., 3 Wn. App. 286, 292, 474 P.2d 589 (Div. 1 1970).

administration and enforcement of their occupational safety and health laws." 29 U.S.C. §651(b)(11).9 The Port asserts a clear conflict between state and federal law, despite the federal mandate that States should control worker safety, 29 U.S.C. §667(b), while the FAA should control air transport safety. 49 U.S.C. §40103(a), (b). 10 It asserts a clear conflict although the FAA does not pervasively regulate ground services on the ramp, and its ground service circulars are purely advisory. 11

This Court should decline to review implied conflict preemption because the Port has failed to demonstrate any clear conflict between federal and state law, and because WISHA is not an obstacle to the accomplishment of Congressional purposes, but instead serves Congressional intent both to protect worker safety and health, and to help ensure air transport safety. WISHA was federally approved, 29 CFR 1952.120, under §18(b) (29 U.S.C. §667(b)) of OSHA, which creates reverse preemption in favor of state law over federal law:

Congress not only reserved certain areas to state regulation, but it also, in §18(b) of the Act, gave the States the option of pre-empting federal regulation entirely.¹²

⁹ The Port abandoned its express preemption and implied field preemption arguments.

¹⁰ United Air Lines, Inc. v. OSHA Appeals Bd., 32 Cal.3d 762, 767, 769-71, 187 Cal.Rptr. 387, 654 P.2d 157 (1982) ("UAL v. OSHA").

¹¹ *Id.* at 774-77 (where FAA regulation is merely potential, it does not preempt actual worker safety regulation).

¹² Gade v. National Solid Wastes Mngmt. Ass'n, 505 U.S. 88, 97, 102 (1992) (emphasis added).

1. Implied Preemption is Narrow and Disfavored

"Federal preemption is governed by the intent of Congress"

A tangential conflict between federal and state law is not enough: "for a state law to fall within the pre-empted zone, it must have some direct and substantial effect" on the federal regulation. 14

[T]here is a strong presumption against finding preemption in an ambiguous case and the burden of proof is on the party claiming preemption.... State laws are not superseded by federal law unless that is the clear and manifest purpose of Congress. 15

"The presumption against preemption is even stronger with state regulation regarding matters of health and safety." 16

2. There is No Colorable Claim of Conflict Preemption Here

Implied conflict preemption occurs (1) when compliance with both laws is impossible or (2) when a state law stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment of the full purposes and objectives of Congress.¹⁷

a. The Port is Not Penalized for Exercising Control

The Port complains that it is impossible to comply with FAA and TSA regulations (14 CFR part 139; 49 CFR part 1541), while also

¹³ Inlandboatmen's Union of the Pacific v. Dept. of Transp., 119 Wn.2d 697, 701, 836 P.2d 823 (1992); accord, Martin v. Midwest Express Holdings, Inc., 555 F.3d 806, 808 (9th Cir. 2009) ("The touchstone of preemption is congressional intent.").

¹⁴ English v. General Elec. Co., 496 U.S. 72, 85 (1990).

Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. Univ. of Washington, 125 Wn.2d 243, 265, 884
 P.2d 592 (1994) (quoting, Washington State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Assoc. v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 327, 858
 P.2d 1054 (1993)); accord, e.g., Estate of Becker v. AVCO Corp., 187 Wn.2d 615, 387
 P.3d 1066, 1069 (2017).

¹⁶ Fisons, 122 Wn.2d at 327.

complying with its nondelegable duties under WISHA and common-law to maintain a safe workplace, and that it is being penalized for rules it is required to enact. But as the Court of Appeals correctly held, the Port is not penalized for ensuring safety, but for failing to ensure safety. Afoa v. Port, Pet., App. B at 19. Even if it were accurate that federal law required Port control over worker safety in the ramp area where Brandon was injured (it is not accurate – see next section), control is not what triggers liability. Port control creates the duty, but absent a breach of duty and causation, there would be no liability. The penalty follows on the breach of duty, not the control. There is no conflict because no federal law commands the Port to breach its state duty by failing to maintain a safe workplace, or failing to follow WISHA regulations. Indeed, federal law, to the extent the FAA tells the Port to operate a safe airport, 18 and because Congress intended Washington state to impose "sanctions" for violations of its regulations, 19 is totally in harmony with state law.

¹⁷ Inlandboatmen's Union, 119 Wn.2d at 702.

¹⁸ An FAA Advisory Circular states that each certificated operator at the 575 airports around the country should be ultimately responsible for safety at its own airport, Ex. 183 ¶6(a), p.3; RP 1885-86/20-8, 1958/2-9, but as demonstrated in Section II(A)(2)(b) *infra*, neither it nor any Federal regulation imposes any mandatory requirements regarding worker safety on the ramp, where Brandon was injured.

¹⁹ Congress intended that a system of penalties for worker safety violations be part of OSHA. 29 USC §651(b)(10) ("The Congress declares it to be its purpose and policy ... to assure ... safe and healthful working conditions ... by providing an effective enforcement program which shall include ... sanctions for any individual violating this prohibition ...").

The Port's primary argument for review raises no serious issues deserving of this Court's attention.

b. The Port's Impossibility Argument is Factually Unfounded, and Would Therefore Waste this Court's Time

The Port argues that to comply with FAA regulations it was required to adopt Rules governing the safe operation of ground service vehicles, and now it is being penalized for exercising that control. *Pet.* at 9-10. But the Port admitted, and the evidence clearly shows, that the FAA does not approve the Port's Rules, and while it does approve the Airport Certification Manual ("ACM"), the FAA does not approve any particular method of compliance with Part 139.²⁰ The Rules applicable at Seatac, and the training video for driving in the nonmovement area, were written and created by *the Port*, not by the FAA, the airlines, or the ground service operators.²¹ The Port has broad discretion in meeting FAA requirements, and it wrote its Rules to govern what it wanted to control.²²

Not only does the Port write its own rules, but there is no clear federal mandate regarding Port regulation of ground service operations in the ramp (nonmovement) area where Brandon was hurt. According to former FAA airport certification manager Benedict Castellano:

²⁰ Brief of Appellant/Cross-Respondent, at 34 ("BA"); RP 1941/3-6, 1941-42/18-4, 1943-44/10-20.

²¹ RP 1365-66/1-1, 1371/15-19, 1372/14-22.

²² RP 2978-79/11-1, 2793/9-19; 2999/9-20; 3002/16-19.

Part 139 ... do[es] not contain a lot of requirements on the ramp area. Most of Part 139 deals with runways and taxiways or that part of the airport known as the movement area....

RP 1900/1-4. Mr. Ehl, the Port's Sea-Tac CEO, agrees: "I ... am unaware of any federal regulation which requires an airport certification holder to retain the right to control, actually control, or undertake any obligation to maintain, inspect, or service ... motor vehicles used by ground service vendors ... at [Sea-Tac]." CP 3196. The Subpart D regulations relied upon by the Port bear out Mr. Castellano and Mr. Ehl. Of the twenty-two separate regulations in Subpart D, only one is titled "Pedestrians and ground vehicles." 14 CFR §139.329. This federal rule first requires the airport operator to "[I]imit access to movement areas and safety areas only to those ... ground vehicles necessary for airport operations." Id. §139.329(a) (emphasis added). "Safety areas" are extensions off the runways and taxiways for use in emergencies, and thus within the movement area. Id. §§139.5 (definitions), 139.309 ("Safety areas"). This regulation has very little to do with operations on the ramp.

This rule also requires the airport operator to, "[e]stablish and implement procedures for the safe and orderly access to and operation in movement areas and safety areas by ... ground vehicles," id. §139.329(b), and ensure control over ground vehicles "in movement areas or safety areas", id. §§139.329(c), (d). The Port tries to stretch the

"access to" language to reach Brandon's collision. *Pet.* at 9 n.3. But very little control over a small part of the nonmovement area satisfies the "access to" language: the Port must paint a clear control line distinguishing the two areas (it has); and aircraft and vehicles on the ramp must switch over communication from the Port-operated Ramp Tower to the FAA-operated Control Tower, as well as have proper credentials, before entering the movement area (they do). Section 139.329(b), is not even close to a clear federal mandate to generally regulate ground service operations on the ramp — especially in the area near to the gates, where Brandon's injuries occurred.

The other provisions of Part 139 focus mainly on the movement and safety areas, not the ramp, and on air transport safety, not worker safety. Because these regulations and the WISHA regulations and common-law safe workplace duties are like "ships passing in the night" governing different duties in different locations, the Port totally fails from the outset to carry its strong burden of showing a clear conflict between any specific federal enactment and either WISHA or state common law. "The possibility of interference does not justify preemption."²⁴

²³ See, App. 1 (BR at 33-34 n.94). The Port-drafted Safety Management Systems ("SMS") document admits this: "Under ... Part 139 (14 CFR Part 139), airports ... are required to perform regular ... self inspections (139.327) of the airfield with a focus on the movement area including runways and taxiways." CP 4260 (emphasis added).

²⁴ DLI v. State, 111 Wn.2d 586, 589, 762 P.2d 348 (1988); English, 496 U.S. at 90.

This Court should not grant review when the basic premise of the issue is simply wrong. The basic premise of the Port's implied conflict argument – that there is federal regulation overlapping state regulation of worker safety on the ramp – is wrong.²⁵

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